GENDER-RESPONSIVE FRAMEWORK FOR IMPLEMENTING THE PARIS AGREEMENT IN AFRICA

Produced for the African Working Group on Gender and Climate Change (AWGGCC)

Updated 29th August 2018

Table of Contents

	List of Acronyms	3
1.	Introduction and purpose of the framework	4
2.	Paris Agreement	4
3.	The importance of gender-responsiveness in implementation of the Paris Agreement	5
4.	Ensuring gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement	6
	4.1 Establish an implementation team	7
	4.2 Gender analysis	8
	4.3 Screen policy documents and strategies for gender-responsiveness	8
	4.3.1 Revise NDCs and NAPs	9
	4.4 Design gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions	9
	4.4.1 Principle of good practice - ensure both men's and women's voices are heard	9
	4.4.2 Adaptation	10
	4.4.3 Mitigation	10
	4.5 Design an implementation framework with gender-responsive monitoring and evaluation	11
	4.5.1 Use sex-disaggregated data for the baseline and monitoring	11
	4.5.2 Apply gender budgeting	12
	4.4.3 Undertake gender-responsive evaluation	12
5.	Opportunities for gender transformation	12
6.	International opportunities for gender-responsiveness in addressing climate change	13
	6.1 Continuing advocacy for gender-responsiveness within the UNFCCC	13
	6.2 Gender and finance, technology and capacity building	14
Αı	nnex A: Gender Action Plan priority areas and activities	15

List of Acronyms

AMCEN African Ministerial Conference on Environment

AU African Union

AWGGCC African Working Group on Gender and Climate Change

CAHOSCC Committee of African Heads of State and Government on Climate

Change

COP Conference of the Parties

CWGPCC CAHOSCC Women and Gender Programme on Climate Change

ECOWAS Economic Commission of West African States

GAP Gender Action Plan GCF Green Climate Fund

IFAD International Fund for Agricultural Development INDC Intended Nationally Determined Contribution

LDCF Least Developed Countries Fund

NAP National Adaptation Plan

NDC Nationally Determined Contribution

REDD Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation

SBI Subsidiary Body for Implementation

SBSTA Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice

SCCF Special Climate Change Fund SDG Sustainable Development Goal

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

UNFCCC United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

1. Introduction and purpose of the framework

The latest legally-binding outcome under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) is the Paris Agreement, which entered into force on 4th November 2016 and will apply from 2020. Climate change is neither gender-neutral in its causes nor potential impacts - partly as a result of gendered differences in vulnerability and capacity to adapt. The UNFCCC Gender Action Plan (GAP) aims to promote gender-responsive climate policyⁱ. In-keeping with that, and the African Union Gender Policy and the forthcoming Climate Change Strategy, there is a significant opportunity to ensure that implementation of the Paris Agreement in Africa contributes to gender equality. This framework highlights opportunities for Africa and its states to implement gender-equitable solutions to climate change within the context of the Paris Agreementⁱⁱ.

Box 1: African Working Group on Gender and Climate Change (AWGGCC) and the CAHOSCC Women and Gender Programme on Climate Change (CWGPCC)

The AWGGCC was established in 2013 at the Third Climate Change and Development in Africa conference, with the role of coordinating and providing leadership for Africa's engagement in the regional and global gender and climate change processes. The AWGGCC has since participated in several meetings at the regional and international levels relating to gender and climate change and the formulation of Sustainable Development Goals. In furthering the work of the Working Group, the African Heads of States and Governments, at its Assembly of the Union's Twenty-third Ordinary Session in Malabo in June 2014 through the Committee of African Heads of State and Governments on Climate Change (CAHOSCC) agreed to develop a CAHOSCC Women and Gender Programme on Climate Change (CWGPCC) to engage women and gender in climate change related actions. This position was further reinforced by the decisions made at the fifteenth session of the African Ministerial Conference on Environment (15th Session of AMCEN) held in Cairo, Egypt on 2-6th March 2015. The production of this framework for gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement is one of the priorities of the CWGPCC, and will contribute to the Africa-wide Gender Strategy on Climate Change that will be developed by AMCEN.

2. Paris Agreement

The Paris Agreement was agreed at the UNFCCC COP21, held in Paris in December 2015, and was opened for signature on 22nd April 2016. It is a legally binding document that will start in 2020. It came into force on 4th November 2016, following ratification by 55 Parties, accounting for 55% of the total global greenhouse gas emissions.

The aim of the Paris Agreement is to keep global temperature increase well below 2°C in the twenty first century, and pursue efforts to limit the increase to 1.5°C. It marks the first global agreement where all Parties, including developing countries, have committed to both mitigation of, and adaptation to, climate change.

The text of the Paris Agreement outlines adaptation and mitigation, as well as finance, capacity building and technology. The Paris Agreement will be reached through Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) from each Party. Parties will regularly report on emissions levels and implementation efforts, whilst a global stocktake is due to take place every five years. NDCs and National Adaptation Plans (NAPs) will support planning for adaptation.

3. The importance of gender-responsiveness in implementation of the Paris Agreement

Climate change is not gender neutral: there are differences in the ways in which men and women contribute to the phenomenon (in terms of emissions of greenhouse gases), experience the impacts, and have capacity to adapt. These differences arise not out of biological differences between men and women, but out of the

social constructions of roles and responsibilities. The broad norms of what it means to be a man, woman, boy or girl are learned from birth through socialization processes in the home and collectively within society. From that we construct boundaries around the behaviour that is expected, allowed and valued by men, women, boys and girls.

In most societies there are differences and inequalities between women and men in responsibilities assigned, activities undertaken, access to and control over resources, as well as decision-making opportunities. This leads to a situation of gender inequality. It also leads to gender differences in climate change causes, effects and responses. In order to be gender-responsive, implementation of the Paris Agreement must recognize these differences and

Gender, social exclusion and power

In the strictest definition gender differences refer to those between men and women, although the term is often used more broadly to reflect the sum of various factors that contribute to differential power relations. This may include social identifiers such as age, religion, ethnicity, (dis)ability and socioeconomic status. In the same way that is important not to assume that "women" and "men" form homogeneous groups, it is important to recognize that these multiple identities give rise to nuanced differences in power relations, which in turn are manifest in different contributions to, and experiences of, climate change.

identify gender-equitable responses – being fair to both men and women. Given the patriarchal nature of most societies, being gender-equitable with the aim of achieving gender equality typically requires positive discrimination (affirmative action) to enable empowerment of women, with a focus on identifying and redressing power imbalances. This is recognized in the preamble to the Paris Agreement, which highlights the need to take into account gender equality and empowerment of women in taking action to address climate change (Table 1).

Some articles of the Paris Agreement make more explicit reference to gender than others (Table 1). There is recognition of the need for adaptation action (Article 7) and capacity building (Article 9) to be gender-responsive. There is no such recognition in the articles relating to mitigation (Articles 4, 5 and 6), finance (Article 9), nor technology (Article 10).

Table 1: References to gender within the Articles of the Paris Agreement

Article number	Article theme	Explicit gender reference (yes/no)	Text
Preamble	n/a	Yes	"Acknowledging that climate change is a common concern of humankind, Parties should, when taking action to address climate change, respect, promote and consider their respective obligations on human rights, the right to health, the rights of indigenous peoples, local communities, migrants, children, persons with disabilities and people in vulnerable situations and the right to development, as well as <i>gender equality</i> , <i>empowerment of women</i> and intergenerational equity"
1, 2, 3	Definitions, Objectives, Aims	No	None
4, 5, 6	Mitigation	No	None

7, 8	Adaptation	Yes	"Parties acknowledge that adaptation action should follow a country-driven, gender-responsive, participatory and fully transparent approach, taking into consideration vulnerable groups, communities and ecosystems, and should be based on and guided by the best available science and, as appropriate, traditional knowledge, knowledge of indigenous peoples and local knowledge systems, with a view to integrating adaptation into relevant socioeconomic and environmental policies and actions, where appropriate".
9	Finance	No	None
10	Technology	No	None
11	Capacity building	Yes	"Capacity-building should be country-driven, based on and responsive to national needs, and foster country ownership of Parties, in particular, for developing country Parties, including at the national, subnational and local levels. Capacity-building should be guided by lessons learned, including those from capacity-building activities under the Convention, and should be an effective, iterative process that is participatory, cross-cutting and <i>gender-responsive</i> ".
12, 13, 14, 15, 16	Awareness and reporting	No	None
16-29	Legal modalities	No	None

The importance of gender-responsive climate policy, mainstreaming a gender perspective in implementation of the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement, and increasing women's participation in the UNFCCC process is recognised in the GAP, developed as part of the Lima work programme on gender. The GAP contains five priority areas: capacity building, knowledge sharing and communication; gender balance, participation and women's leadership; coherence; gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation; and monitoring and reporting (Annex A). Each priority areas has activities, indicators and timelines and the first reporting will take place by November 2019. The implementation framework outlined here is consistent with, and will be supported by activities to meet the objectives within the GAP.

4. Ensuring gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement

This section outlines the five steps that are necessary to ensure gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement. Boxes present "how to" guidance, and case studies are also provided. The five steps are establishing an implementation team, undertaking gender analysis, screening policy documents and strategies for gender-responsiveness, designing gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions, and designing an implementation framework with gender-responsive monitoring and evaluation. Box 2 provides a summary of the broad steps to design gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions.

It is important to note that gender refers to the differences between men and women. Being gender-responsive takes into account these differences and applies equitable benefits to men and women. Because of a history of patriarchy this typically means increasing focus on women, and so case study examples tend to highlight this aspect.

Box 2: Summary of broad steps to design gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions

- 1. Assess the gender differences and establish baseline situation
- Undertake analysis of gender differences in vulnerability, as well as adaptation and mitigation (current activities and future needs).
- Determine where sex-disaggregated data exists (e.g. through national household survey data) and make plans to sex-disaggregate relevant data in future in order to be able to monitor change in vulnerability within the context of implementation of adaptation and mitigation activities.
- 2. Analyse adequacy of existing policies and strategies with relation to gender issues
- Determine the extent to which existing climate change-related policies and strategies address gender issues and gaps. Revise if necessary.

- Ensure that development of related strategies is gender-sensitive, for example the strategies to implement the NDC and National Adaptation Plans. If the National Adaptation Plan is not yet completed, critically assess the process to determine whether it is gender equitable (for example is sufficient room made for comments and inputs from both men and women). Use assessment of gender differences to inform inclusion of activities.
- Establish monitoring frameworks using sex-disaggregated indicators.

3. Implementation

- Determine budget needs to effectively implement gender-responsive climate policies and strategies.
- Apply gender budgeting, highlighting how public resources will be allocated such that both men and
 women benefit equitably. If the policies and strategies which they are planned to implement have
 already been made gender-responsive, gender budgeting involves ensuring that resources allocated
 to their implementation also equitably benefit men and women (for example if resources allocated
 are less than that required for full implementation).
- Monitor budgetary allocations with the support of sex-disaggregated indicators.
- Apply gender-responsive evaluation.

4.1 Establish an implementation team

Ensuring gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement will be most effective if a team is assigned to lead the process. This team should have appropriate authority, resourcing and capacity. They will be responsible for various tasks, including gender analysis, screening of policy documents and strategies, designing gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions, and designing an implementation framework with gender-responsive monitoring and evaluation. Ensuring that the team is inclusive and provides opportunities for women's leadership contributes also contributes to the GAP. At the same time, commitments to capacity building at global level through UNFCCC Secretariat assistance will support the development of such a team. Box 3 outlines selected indicators for evaluating gender integration and mainstreaming to ensure that the process of implementing the Paris Agreement is gender-responsive.

Box 3: Selected indicators for evaluating gender integration and mainstreaming

To verify the use of a gender-responsive framework for implementing the Paris Agreement, a variety of potential indicators can be used. Note these are for a country to use to check that its process of implementing the Paris Agreement is gender-responsive. They are different from indicators for use in monitoring the implementation of specific gender-responsive interventions that may have been designed to enable a country to meet is commitments to the Paris Agreement.

Consistency with objectives of the GAP, and the relevant indicators (see Annex A) are noted in italics in brackets.

<u>Inclusion</u>

- Have measures been put in place to ensure equitable participation of men and women in decisionmaking (including inputs to policy development)? (B1, B3, B4, E1c)
- Have measures been put in place to encourage equitable participation of men and women in climate change response? (B4)

Institutional capacity and leadership

- Is there a body/structure with sufficient mandate to lead on gender issues? (D3)
- Is there are a cadre of staff trained in gender? (A1, C2)
- Is there evidence of commitment to gender equality among senior staff? (D3)

Policies

- Is there a high level commitment to gender-responsiveness? (C2, D3)
- Are there mechanisms in place to ensure gender is integrated in implementation? (D3)
- Is there a commitment to mainstreaming gender in sectoral policies, strategies and plans? (E1b)

Budgeting

- Is sufficient budget available for a gender equitable inclusive design process? (D1, D3)
- Is there sufficient budget in place to ensure gender-responsive monitoring and implementation of adaptation and mitigation interventions? (D3)

Monitoring and evaluation

- Is sex-disaggregated data collected/available (e.g. in household surveys)? (E1a)
- Is there a mechanism in place to monitor effectiveness of gender-responsiveness in government policies, strategies and plans? (E1b)
- Is a system in place to ensure gender analysis of interventions, and their effects on gender equality? (E2)

4.2 Gender analysis

Since gender roles and relations are socially constructed, they differ from place to place and over time. A gender analysis serves to highlight gender differences. It provides insights into gender differences in roles, needs, rights, priorities, access to and control over resources and decision-making processes, as well as socioeconomic relationships as affected by, for example, age, ethnicity, income, class and healthⁱⁱⁱ. These can then be used to identify and explain gender differences in vulnerability and adaptive capacity that prevent men and women from experiencing and adapting to climate change impacts on an equal basis. Having this information is also relevant to objective E (monitoring and reporting) under the GAP. Case study 1 outlines how gender analysis was used to identify gender-responsive adaptation in Mali.

As well as highlighting differences in gender roles and relations, gender analysis should also consider the socio-economic, cultural and institutional frameworks that give rise to such gender differences. This will illuminate where policies and institutions may be reinforcing inequality through gender blindness. It will also highlight key priority areas for gender-responsive strategies.

Case study 1: Use of gender analysis tools to optimise gender-responsive adaptation in Mali

The International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) reports how it used gender analysis tools to optimise gender-responsive adaptation^{iv}. "Mali was committed to securing agricultural production in a context of more drought conditions, more heat and lower rainfall. In order to do this in a genderresponsive way, the Fostering Agricultural Productivity Project used participatory approaches to identify, document and understand differences in women's and men's knowledge, their respective vulnerabilities and their existing capacities for adaptation. This step was critical to developing effective, well-targeted interventions. The process allowed men and women to assess their situation and vulnerability to different threats and see how these affected them in different ways because of gender roles, social patterns, and their knowledge about different aspects of environmental management. The process allowed them to develop adaptation plans that involved women and men where their concerns were greatest and where their knowledge and skills could have the best results. Consequently, one of the main gender-related benefits is in irrigated land allocations, which are now more inclusive of women, supporting improved livelihoods and family food security. The project will also collect and analyse male/female household headship data, sex-disaggregated information on agricultural yields for specific products, and data on producers adopting new technologies; further, it will track the numbers of women benefiting from specific subprojects, including newly irrigated land areas."

4.3 Screen policy documents and strategies for gender-responsiveness

A critical step in ensuring gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement is to identify gender blindness in policy documents and strategies. This involves a systematic analysis of the potential gender differences in the focus and objectives, and in the plans and actions. When gender is ignored – a situation known as gender blindness – there is no opportunity to highlight the differences between men and women and boys and girls. When this is the case, plans and actions will also not consider differences between men and women, and thus they run the risk of reinforcing existing inequalities. As well as national policy

documents and strategies, this also applies to international commitments, such as the Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) and National Adaptation Plans (NAPs). Having this information is also relevant to objective E (monitoring and reporting) under the GAP.

4.3.1 Revise NDCs and NAPs

As well as national policy documents and strategies, there is the opportunity to ensure that international commitments are gender-responsive. Parties to the UNFCCC were invited to submit Intended Nationally Determined Contributions (INDCs) in advance of COP21, outlining their intended commitments to reducing greenhouse gas emissions (a later decision also invited INDCs to include inputs into proposed adaptation planning). Once each Party ratifies the Paris Agreement, their Intended Nationally Determined Contribution becomes their Nationally Determined Contribution, and the benchmark against which progress will be reported. Three quarters of sub-Saharan African Parties reference "gender" or "women" in their (I)NDCs, making the region a global leader in integrating gender equality into sustainable development priorities vi. National Adaptation Plans were established at COP16 under the Cancun Adaptation Framework. NAPs enable countries to identify adaptation needs and outline strategies to address those needs. As of April 2017, only four African countries have submitted NAPs (Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Kenya and Sudan), but they are under preparation across the continent. NDCs can be revised to reflect greater ambition, and NAPs are also intended to be living documents. This means that, even if gender has not explicitly been considered, there is still potential for it to be included. The UNFCCC secretariat, and specifically the Gender Unit, has developed guidelines for integrating gender into climate activities and processes that is useful for policy development and implementation (FCCC/TP/2016/2)vii.

4.4 Design gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions

Gender analysis and screening of policy documents and strategies should inform the definition of the focus and objectives, and plans and activities. This is important so that they do not reinforce or worsen the barriers caused by gender inequalities, while also identifying the various types of knowledge that both women and men can contribute in crafting effective and sustainable solutions. An important element of designing gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions is to ensure that both men's and women's voices are heard during the consultation period. The GAP recognizes the importance of such inclusion under priority area B (gender balance, participation and women's leadership).

4.4.1 Principle of good practice - ensure both men's and women's voices are heard

Participation is a key underlying principle of good governance, and recognition of participation is highlighted in the Paris Agreement. Article 7 on adaptation mentions "a...participatory and fully transparent approach, taking into consideration vulnerable groups...", whilst Article 11 on capacity building talks of capacity building being "...an effective, iterative process that is participatory."

Ensuring that the voices of men and women are heard requires understanding of, and responsiveness to, gender roles and relations. This is the case whether the intention is to determine the gendered nature of vulnerability, or to design gender-responsive interventions. The construction of gender roles means that men's and women's typical daily activities engage different spaces over different times. Organizing a consultation in a rural community in the morning, for example, may disadvantage women. This is because it clashes with the time that they may be travelling to fetch water and begin the process of preparing meals. Similarly the location of consultation needs to be gender-sensitive. Men are more likely to have access to transport than women, as well as greater mobility and fewer ties to the home. Some cultural and religious norms restrict women's access to public places. Expecting travel to a public event in a different community is likely to inhibit optimal participation of women, thereby also reinforcing existing inequalities. In such a case, being gender-responsive may require a flexible approach whereby consultation takes place with men and women separately; or at least an option provided for timings and location (case study 2).

Case study 2: Ensuring women's voices are heard-an example from Morocco

In Moroccan rural communities women usually gather privately. The best way to give them a voice is therefore to organise a meeting in a woman's home. Women reported feeling more comfortable in this setting than an official building (such as a school or government office), and were thus more likely to share their inputs.

4.4.2 Adaptation

It is sign of commitment that the Paris Agreement acknowledges that adaptation action should be gender-responsive and take into consideration vulnerable groups. Because of gender roles and relations, it is likely that supporting adaptation for men and supporting adaptation for women may require different interventions. This is because we are starting from a situation of inequality, and gender blindness in adaptation runs the risk of reinforcing the existing gendered nature of vulnerability sum. Support for cash cropping or other commercially-oriented production in rural areas as a mechanism of livelihood diversification, for example, is likely to preferentially enable adaptation of men ix. This is because they typically have access to land and the education and mobility that enables them to participate in value chains and travel to markets, whilst gender roles marginalize women from these opportunities. The result is that adaptation among men would increase, whilst women would stay at the same level of vulnerability to climate change, thereby reinforcing and worsening existing inequalities. Given that we are starting from a situation of inequality, addressing the gendered nature of vulnerability to climate change often involves components of women's empowerment (case study 3).

Case study 3: Targeting women's empowerment to contribute to gender equality

As well as the social arguments for gender equality and addressing differential vulnerability, a case study in Nigeria showed that there are wider positive economic benefits of women's empowerment. The Community-Based Agricultural and Rural Development Programme, implemented by the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), targeted men and women for vulnerability reduction. Women's economic empowerment was a key aim. This was brought about through the provision of credit and seed capital for income-generating activities, and raising women's voices in domestic and community decision-making (as a result of economic success). From this IFAD learned that targeted investments for women are critical, alongside gender mainstreaming.

They plan to replicate the successes in a follow-up programme which aims to support the creation of job opportunities around value chains in a number of commodities. Training will be provided in business plan development, operations and management, with starter packs of inputs provided to graduates of the training scheme. To actively encourage women's ongoing participation there will be a component to support women and young people setting up enterprises: the Enterprise Development Fund for Women and Youth^x.

4.4.3 Mitigation

Whereas women are widely recognized as key to adaptation, mitigation is seen more as a male issue. Although agriculture is the main source of greenhouse gas emissions in many African countries, energy usage is rising. Part of the ethos of the UNFCCC is to support technology transfer to enable developing countries to leapfrog the fossil fuel-driven industrialization pathway, and rather attain energy security based on renewable resources. Gender roles mean that men are typically relatively more involved in high emitting industrial activities, and also have greater mobility, thereby contributing to transport-based emissions.

However, gender blindness in addressing mitigation issues could inadvertently reinforce gender inequality. Whilst women may be relatively less energy-intensive through employment and transport, they still typically experience greater energy poverty. As a result of gender roles, addressing this energy poverty also adds to women's work burdens and thus further disadvantages them relative to men. This typically relates to women's responsibility for procuring energy for domestic purposes. In rural areas this is likely to mean

procurement of biomass (e.g. gathering wood); whereas in urban areas it means purchasing cooking fuels. In rural areas, energy poverty means that women often spend more time searching for biomass to use for fuels. Since gender roles typically ascribe responsibility for cash and income management to men, women in urban areas often have less control over energy availability without the capacity to purchase.

Another key mitigation practice that has been particularly promoted for developing countries is Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Degradation (REDD). By reducing deforestation and maintaining sound land use practices, developing countries could not only reduce carbon emissions, but also receive the cobenefit of conservation (hence REDD is now referred to as REDD+). There was also hope that carbon projects could be managed in such a way as to actively improve livelihoods for local stakeholders. Promoting afforestation and agroforestry potentially offers the opportunity to contribute to carbon credits for the market whilst also generating sustainable incomes. However, gender roles and land ownership policies can mean that, without explicit consideration of gender, women are marginalised from the process and have their inequality reinforced (see case studies 4 and 5).

Case study 4: Gender-equitable capacity building to enable gender-equitable mitigation opportunities

Gender-responsive adaptation and mitigation interventions typically require gender-equitable application of finance, technology and capacity building. The Nyimba Forest Project in Zambia is one example where targeted capacity building of women enabled gender-equitable participation in a REDD+ programme and contributed to greater gender equality^{xi}. In the project a concerted effort was made to include gender considerations in order to enable gender-equitable distribution of future benefits. Women's inputs were sought in the research process to capture their knowledge, and capacity building facilitated their participation in decision-making processes. At project level the ratio of men and women participating was 53 to 47, and an environment was created where women had equal opportunity to participate in project implementation. At national level, the project aided in the production of recommendations and guidelines for addressing gender issues in projects and policies, as well as in the national REDD+ Strategy.

Case study 5: Ensuring gender-responsive energy access in the Economic Community of West African States (ECOWAS)

Recognising the need for gender sensitivity in energy policies and projects, ECOWAS is integrating gender sensitivity into its Bioenergy Programme and the West African Clean Cooking Alliance. These commitments have led to the integration of the specific, and differing, needs of men and women being integrated into regional institutional frameworks, capacity-building and clean energy interventions. This integration includes budget allocations to implement programmes. ECOWAS's Regional Centre for Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency is also developing regional policies to remove barriers to equal participation of women and men in improved access to clean and renewable energy.

4.5 Design an implementation framework with gender-responsive monitoring and evaluation

4.5.1 Use sex-disaggregated data for the baseline and monitoring

One of the main causes of ongoing invisibility of women, and perpetuation of inequality, is that there is often an absence of sex-disaggregated data. Sex-disaggregated data opens up the opportunity to link sex with other variables – such as livelihood activity, production level, access to land, and participation in decision-making. Ensuring women's voices are heard, as outlined above, means that qualitative data, as well as quantitative, can highlight gender differences. Sex-disaggregated data then enables calculation of gender indicators which show how women perform relative to men in key areas, and can be used to monitor progress. They can therefore highlight the effect of implementation of the Paris Agreement on gender equality, in terms of both mitigation and adaptation options. In some cases countries already collect sex-disaggregated data, for example as part of the census and/or integrated household surveys. Other international commitments, such as the Sustainable Development Goals (SDG), are also encouraging sex-

disaggregated data, so there is impetus for existing national data collection mechanisms to take this on board. The GAP also requires sex-disaggregated data and paying attention to coherence with the SDGs.

4.5.2 Apply gender budgeting

Gender budgeting aims to ensure that appropriate resources are available for implementing gender-responsive activities, highlighting how public resources will equitably benefit men and women. It does this by applying a gender lens to the budgeting process, thereby ensuring that the budget identifies potential need for different expenditure levels on men and women so that resources can be equitably allocated. Gender budgeting has the advantage that sex-disaggregated indicators would then be necessary to effectively monitoring progress, thereby reinforcing the likelihood of effective gender-responsiveness in project implementation and benefits. Support for gender-based budgeting is highlighted under priority area D (gender-responsive implementation and means of implementation) of the GAP.

4.4.3 Undertake gender-responsive evaluation

A gender-responsive evaluation ensures that the systematic and objective assessment of expected and achieved results takes into account the extent to which men and women have participated in, and benefited from, an intervention. It builds on and uses the sex-disaggregated data collecting during the baseline and monitoring. Compared to a standard evaluation it also assesses the extent to which gender roles and relations and the situation of (in)equality have changed as a result of an intervention. Both the evaluation itself and the process of undertaking the evaluation can enhance gender equality and the empowerment of women by highlighting ongoing structural causes of inequality and identifying how to prevent further discrimination and exclusion.

5. Opportunities for gender transformation

Identifying gender-responsive mechanisms to implement the Paris Agreement, in terms of adaptation and mitigation initiatives, is important to stop reinforcing existing inequalities. Ensuring implementation is gender-responsive also offers opportunities to change gender relations through women's empowerment, and contribute to greater equality (as outlined, for example, in case studies 3, 4, 5 and 6). However, for equality to be sustained there needs to be wider social change in the ways in which gender roles are constructed^{xii}. This is because all interventions take place within a broader societal context – and thus addressing that context is essential.

Access to land, for example, typically exhibits strong gendered dimensions and women's lack of control over land is recognized to be a driver of vulnerability and impediment to adaptation. Many countries have attempted to change this by altering their land laws. However, without concomitant efforts to change constructions of women's roles, even such an intervention can reinforce inequality. In Burkina Faso, for example, gender roles dictate that women first farm the family plot (typically controlled by their husbands – or men in the family) before they can dedicate time to their own; and that men lay claim to outputs and profits from any farmland within their family. As a result of this, attempting to secure land rights for women did little to support their adaptation and, in fact, often reinforced inequality. They typically had to work longer to farm the larger area and, in so doing, the additional outputs accrued first to the men, widening inequality. Similarly women farmers were reluctant to farm their own plots in Niger after land rights had been secured. This was because of concern that their husbands would claim the profits and use them for additional wives. In turn, this would place additional burdens on the women as they would have the responsibility for the food security of a larger family. In order to be successful at reducing inequality, efforts at women's empowerment must therefore take place within a full understanding of gender roles and relations^{xiii}.

Case study 6: How gender-responsive adaptation can be transformative for women's lives

A project under the Canada-UNDP climate adaptation facility intended to improve water access through providing individual water tanks for storage. The project teams prioritised the most vulnerable

households. Criteria for these households included: large number of people, limited livelihood options, and women-headed. One elderly widow, who heads a nine-person household comprising her children and grandchildren, highlighted two main benefits to her life after she received an individual water tank built in front of her house. The first was not having to go down to the well in the middle of the night (located about 200m down the hill); and the second was not having to put up with social tensions around water in the dry season. During the dry season (May-July), the well dries up at the end of the day and recharges at night. "Whoever gets there first gets the water," she says. "So I used to go there around midnight and sleep there, in order to be the first to draw water from the well". As well as enabling her to adapt to climate change, this intervention has been transformative in her life by reducing labour burden.

6. International opportunities for gender-responsiveness in addressing climate change

Ensuring gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement requires gender sensitivity in the design of adaptation and mitigation initiatives at national level, as well as any attempts at technology development and capacity building. Much of the latter is provided internationally through the UNFCCC. Whilst gender-responsiveness was highlighted in Article 11 on capacity building, it was not mentioned in Article 10 on technology – despite gender-equitable technology being essential to achieve benefits for both men and women. Since the operationalization of these mechanisms is ongoing, there remains the imperative for African countries to advocate for gender-responsiveness as frameworks are established. Likewise, Article 9 on finance is not explicit about gender-responsiveness, despite the availability of finance being essential to achieve benefits for both men and women. As well as advocacy at the international level, the existing multilateral open access funds all encourage gender-responsiveness which, in turn, incentivizes gender-responsive national interventions.

6.1 Continuing advocacy for gender-responsiveness within the UNFCCC

The Lima Work Programme on Gender outlined a two year work programme to move the focus from concepts to implementation in recognition of a gap in information and understanding among Parties about gender-responsive climate policy. It culminated in the decision on the GAP in 2017, reinforcing the importance of gender-responsive climate policy, mainstreaming a gender perspective in implementation of the UNFCCC and the Paris Agreement, and increasing women's participation in the UNFCCC process. In line with this, the UNFCCC Secretariat has undertaken analysis of the gender composition^{xiv} and investigated entry points for integrating gender into UNFCCC workstreams^{xv}. Continuing the momentum at national level is also essential for the gender-responsive implementation of the Paris Agreement.

Discussions on scoping the modalities of implementation of the Paris Agreement began at COP21 and have continued. The UNFCCC Secretariat has a number of support mechanisms in place, under various institutions, to facilitate commitment of Parties to the Convention and implementation of its legally-binding documents such as the Paris Agreement-including the Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI) and the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice (SBSTA). Ensuring that these bodies also work in a gender-responsive manner, consistent with the GAP, is also important. Among other tasks, the SBI is spearheading attempts at capacity building, and has responsibility for reviewing the implementation of the capacity building framework and organizing annual sessions of the Paris Committee on Capacity Building. Since Article 11 elaborated the importance of capacity building being gender-responsive, ensuring that these efforts reflect different needs of men and women is essential. SBSTA is responsible for developing a stock-take of the implementation of the Agreement, and accounting of public finance. What the stock-take should contain and how it should operate are still under discussion, so there is scope to advocate for gender-sensitivity. SBSTA is also mandated to look at accounting of public finance. Since Article 9 on finance made no reference to gender-responsiveness, there is also scope to ensure it is included in the development of a monitoring framework.

6.2 Gender and finance, technology and capacity building

Significant international opportunities exist to access climate finance, and for technology transfer and capacity building. The technology transfer framework was created to enhance the implementation of Article 4, Paragraph 5 of the UNFCCC. Support is provided through the Convention for technology needs assessments, as well as the creation of enabling environments and mechanisms for technology transfer, and capacity building. Gender analysis can inform the technology need assessment such that it highlights gender-responsive actions. This can, in turn, act a prerequisite for support for other sources, including from international climate finance.

Significant quantities of climate finance are available from bilateral and multilateral donors, as well as from the open access multilateral funds, such as the Green Climate Fund (GCF), Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF), Special Climate Change Fund (SCCF) and Adaptation Fund. Although Article 9 on finance does not specify gender-responsiveness, the open access multilateral funds under the Convention all require evidence of gender-sensitivity in project design and implementation.

Demonstrating the gender-responsiveness of projects to implement the Paris Agreement is inherent in the application process for all open access multilateral funds. The Global Environment Facility (which administers the LDCF and SCCF), the Adaptation Fund and the GCF require that environmental and social safeguards that must be in place to ensure that intended projects do no harm. They also have gender policies and explicit requirements in the application procedures for identifying how the gender dimensions will be addressed in proposed projects. These variously require gender analysis in assessments of vulnerability, gender-sensitive budgeting, inclusion of women's perspectives in project development and implementation and sex-disaggregated indicators for monitoring and evaluation.

Annex A: Gender Action Plan priority areas and activities

Priority area	Activity no	Activity
A: capacity-building, knowledge sharing and communication	A1	Through the use of such mechanisms as workshops, technical assistance, etc., enhance the capacity of Parties and stakeholders to develop gender-responsive policies, plans and programmes on adaptation, mitigation, capacity-building, technology and finance
	A2	Make a submission on the systematic integration of gender-sensitive and participatory education, training, public awareness, public participation and public access to information from national to local level into all mitigation and adaptation activities implemented under the Convention and the Paris Agreement, including into the implementation of NDCs and the formulation of long-term low greenhouse gas emission development strategies, and invite Parties to hold a dialogue under the Action for Climate Empowerment agenda item on how Parties and observer organizations have promoted the systematic integration of gender considerations into the above-mentioned issues
B: gender balance, participation and women's leadership	B1	Promote travel funds as a means to support the participation of women in national delegations at UNFCCC sessions, including those from grass-roots, local and indigenous peoples communities from developing countries, the least developed countries and small island developing States
	B2	Include in regular notifications to Parties at the time of nominations to UNFCCC bodies the latest report on the gender composition of the relevant body
	В3	Organize and conduct capacity-building training on leadership, negotiation, facilitation and chairing in the context of the UNFCCC process in cooperation with United Nations system wide efforts for women
	В4	Cooperate in, promote, facilitate, develop and implement formal and non-formal education and training programmes focused on climate change at all levels, targeting women and youth in particular at the national, regional and local levels, including the exchange or secondment of personnel to train experts
C: coherence	C1	At SBI 48 hold a dialogue, open to Parties and observers, with the chairs of UNFCCC constituted bodies to discuss the outcomes of the technical paper on entry points requested in decision 21/CP.22, paragraph 13, and any potential recommendations
	C2	Provide capacity-building to chairs and members of UNFCCC constituted bodies and technical teams of the secretariat on how to integrate gender considerations into their respective areas of work and on meeting the goal of gender balance
	C3	Share information on efforts made to support the implementation of activities to enhance synergies with other United Nations entities and processes, paying particular attention to the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development
D: gender-responsive implementation and	D1	Invite the Standing Committee on Finance to host a dialogue on the implementation of its commitment to integrate gender considerations into its work, emphasizing the relevance of gender-

means of implementation		responsive access to finance in the implementation of climate action
	D2	In cooperation with the UNEP DTU Partnership and the Climate Technology Centre and Network, invite interested stakeholders to share information on the incorporation of gender into technology needs assessments during Gender Day
	D3	Strengthen the capacity of gender mechanisms, including for parliamentarians, the International Parliamentary Union, commissions, funding ministries, non-governmental organizations and civil society organizations, for the integration of gender-responsive budgeting into climate finance, access and delivery through training, expert workshops, technical papers and tools
E: monitoring and reporting	E1	Make a submission on the following, including sex-disaggregated data and gender analysis, where applicable: (a) Information on the differentiated impacts of climate change on women and men, with special attention paid to local communities and indigenous peoples; (b) Integration of gender considerations into adaptation, mitigation, capacity-building, Action for Climate Empowerment, technology and finance policies, plans and actions; (c) Policies and plans for and progress made in enhancing gender balance in national climate delegations
	E2	Prepare a synthesis report on the submissions received under activity E.1
	E3	Update report on how the Climate Technology Centre and Network, in executing its modalities and procedures, working in conjunction with the Technology Executive Committee (to ensure coherence and synergy within the Technology Mechanism), contributed to the aim of accelerating the development and transfer of technology, taking into account gender considerations
	E4	Encourage knowledge exchange activities among the secretariat staff across all thematic areas to update on work related to gender

_

ⁱ UNFCCC, 2017. Decision -/CP.23. Establishment of a Gender Action Plan, 6p. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/cp23 auv gender.pdf

^{II} Gender Analysis of the Paris Agreement and Implications for Africa; Report produced for the Africa Working Group on Gender and Climate Change, 17p.

iii Doss, C. and C. Kieran, 2014. Standards for collecting sex-disaggregated data for gender analysis: A guide for practitioners. CGIAR Gender and Agriculture Research Network paper, 6p. http://hdl.handle.net/10947/3072 SIDA, 2015, Gender analysis: Principles and elements (Gender Toolbox tool), 6p.

http://www.sida.se/contentassets/3a820dbd152f4fca98bacde8a8101e15/gender-tool-analysis.pdf

iv International Fund for Agricultural Development, 2014, The Gender Advantage: Women on the Front Line of Climate Change, https://www.ifad.org/newsroom/press_release/tags/p17/y2014/2791272 and World Bank, Project appraisal document, Mali - Fostering Agricultural Productivity Project, http://projects.worldbank.org/P095091/fostering-agricultural-productivity-project?lang=en cited in UNDP's Toolkit for Gender-responsive National Communications

^v Arora-Jonsson, S., 2011, Virtue and vulnerability: Discourses on women, gender and climate change. Global Environmental Change, 21, 744-751.

vi USAID/IUCN, 2016, Gender in Mitigation Actions, EGI Brief I, April 2016 Edition, http://genderandenvironment.org/resource/gender-in-mitigation-actions-egi-brief/

vii UNFCCC, 2016, Guidelines or other tools for integrating gender considerations into climate change related activities under the Convention http://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2016/tp/02.pdf

https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/docs/2017/cop23/eng/06.pdf

viii CARE, 2016, Gender Dynamics in a Changing Climate: How gender and adaptive capacity affect resilience, http://careclimatechange.org/publications/gender-dynamics-changing-climate/

ix Gladwin, C.H., A.M. Thomson, J.S. Peterson, and A.S. Anderson, 2001, Addressing food security in Africa via multiple livelihood strategies of women farmers, Food Policy, 26(2), 177-207.

^{*} IFAD. 2013, Community-Based Agricultural and Rural Development Programme (CBARDP) Impact Assessment of Gender and Vulnerable Groups, https://www.ifad.org/evaluation/reports/ppa/tags/nigeria/12923951

xi Aguilar, L., Granat, M., & Owren, C., 2015, Roots for the Future: The landscape and way forward on gender and climate change. Washington, DC, 467p, http://genderandenvironment.org/roots-for-the-future/

xii CARE, 2016, Gender Dynamics in a Changing Climate. How gender and adaptive capacity affect resilience, http://careclimatechange.org/publications/gender-dynamics-changing-climate/

xiii Oxfam Canada, 2014, Resilience in Times of Food Insecurity: Reflecting on the experiences of women's organizations. 30p, https://www.oxfam.ca/our-work/publications/resilience-in-times-of-food-insecurity viv UNFCCC, 2017. Gender composition. FCCC/CP/2017/6.

^{xv} UNFCCC, 2018. Entry points for integrating gender considerations into UNFCCC workstreams. FCCC/TP/2018/1. https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/01.pdf